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Wednesday, April 9, 2014
--- On commencing at 9:41 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, everyone.  This is the technical conference for the Toronto Hydro forbearance application EB-2013-0234.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.


There's a few preliminary matters that we should discuss, the first of which is that we are doing this technical conference partially by phone, which is a bit unusual for us, and it may pose some challenges just in terms of organization.  I'm going to do my best to be the ringmaster, but I'll ask everyone for their patience and cooperation to ensure that everyone knows who is talking to who, and we'll -- I'm sure we'll stumble through that.


There's a couple of other matters.  As everyone will have seen, the Board issued its decision on Toronto Hydro's request for confidentiality treatment for certain materials yesterday.  You will also have seen that Toronto Hydro has filed a letter indicating that it will seek a review of that decision, and then Mr. Rubenstein filed a letter, I guess seeking some clarification from the Board as to what that meant for today's proceeding.


Unfortunately, given the relatively short time lines, you won't receive a written response from the Board, but what I can convey is I've spoken with the Board panel about this, and it's their view that we should continue to treat the materials in confidence for the purposes of today's technical conference.  So in other words, treat the material as confidential pending further notice, which will mean that for today we'll almost certainly have to go in camera for a portion of the technical conference.


Before I move on from that, does anyone have any questions about that, or is that clear?  So it's status quo until we hear differently from the Board.


I've already raised the issue of the possibility of switching the settlement conference with the experts conference.  We'll take that discussion offline, I think.  I don't know if it will work or not, but it's something that we can have a chat about.


A final preliminary matter that I wanted to raise, Mr. Warren approached me a couple of weeks back when we filed our experts' reports, and he noted that -- maybe I can just pull one up here.  For example, if you look at the report by the analysis group, it says this report was prepared at the request of the Ontario Energy Board.


And I just wanted to clarify that there really is only one Board, in terms of signing contracts for this sort of thing.  But both of our experts or all of our experts have been retained on behalf of Board Staff and not on behalf of the Board panel.  So none of our experts have had any contact whatsoever with the Board panel.  I doubt they know who the Board panel is, frankly, and they won't have any contact with the Board panel except through the course of the hearing process itself.


So I just wanted to clarify that they were not acting independently for the panel as well.  They're working at the behest of Board Staff.


Why don't we move on to appearances, and then we can -- I understand that we will be hearing questions for Dr. Church first, after which Mr. Warren will be calling the technical panel from Toronto Hydro.  And then it's still not quite clear if there are any questions for our experts.  There may or may not be.  We'll sort that out, but we'll hear from Toronto Hydro first.


But let's begin with appearances.  I'm going to start with the folks in the room, and then I may have a stab at introducing the people on the phone, and they can sort of confirm that they're here, just so everyone doesn't end up speaking at once.
Appearances:


MR. MILLAR:  So once again, my name is Michael Millar.  I'm counsel for Board Staff.  I'm joined today by Michael Bell and David Brown of Board Staff.


MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the applicant, Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited.  With me are Rob Barrass, who is lead regulatory counsel at Toronto Hydro, as well as my partner, Niki Iatrou.


MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan for the Consumers Council of Canada.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein for the School Energy Coalition.


MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Larry Schwartz, economic consultant to Energy Probe.


MS. KHAN:  Afreen Khan with the Electricity Distributors Association.


MR. MILLAR:  We're getting a bit of feedback.  If you're not using your mic, maybe turn it off.  Okay.  There we go.  Thank you.

We'll move to the phone now, and maybe I'll take a roll call.  That might make this a bit easier.  I understand that from the analysis group we have Mark Van Audenrode; is that right?


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Yes.  Good morning.


MR. MILLAR:  And from VECC we have Michael Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  I'm here.


MR. MILLAR:  And from the Nordicity Group we have Steven Meyer and Stewart Jack; is that correct?


MR. JACK:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And we have George Hariton from VECC?


MR. HARITON:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And finally, we have Dr. Church, who is Toronto Hydro's expert witness; is that right?


DR. CHURCH:  Good morning.


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning.  Is there anybody else on the phone?  Okay.  Thank you.


I think we'll move now to our questions of Dr. Church.  I do want to remind folks, to the extent that they're not already aware, that the confidential materials as filed by Toronto Hydro are still being treated in confidence.  So if you're concerned about a particular question we will have an in camera session at the end of Toronto Hydro's technical panel.


I don't think there would be any confidential questions for Dr. Church.  Is that correct Mr. MacIntosh?  Okay.  So we don't have to worry about that now.  But I encourage you to err on the side of caution if you're not sure if something's confidential, and of course I'm sure Mr. Warren will let us know if, for example, a question may not be confidential, but perhaps the answer is, so we'll work through that as it arises.


So Dr. Church, what we'll do now, unless -- are there any other preliminary matters?  Okay.  There are some questions for you from, I believe from Mr. MacIntosh, so I will turn it over to him.
TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LTD. - PANEL 1


Jeffrey Church
Questions by Dr. Schwartz:


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  It's Larry Schwartz on behalf of Energy Probe.  Good morning, Jeff.


MR. MILLAR:  Are you there, Dr. Church?  I'm sorry, we're having a bit of difficulty hearing you.  If you could just speak a bit more loudly and directly into the phone?


DR. CHURCH:  I have a large hum in my ear.


MR. MILLAR:  We're hearing that too.  I would ask everyone to turn off their mic unless they're using it.


DR. CHURCH:  It just disappeared.  Hello?


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, we're just working on the mics here.  I think we've fixed the problem, so...


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Jeff, good morning.  It's Larry Schwartz.  Can you hear me?


DR. CHURCH:  I can hear you now.  The hum is gone.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  Well, we haven't talked for a long time, so nice to speak with you.


I have a couple questions which I take it you've seen as a follow-up to responses to the Energy Probe -- some of the responses that you provided to Energy Probe interrogatories.  And the first question that we raise is in regard to tab D, schedule 5-4 of Toronto Hydro's interrogatory responses.


DR. CHURCH:  Okay.  I've turned it up.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  And the question there -- or question A:  Does Professor Church -- sorry, no, that's the wrong one.  All right.  So B:  Would it be correct to infer that Professor Church put substantial weight throughout his report on the concept of functional interchangeability to establish that there was a broad upstream market?


As I had read your report, the answer to that was yes.  But the answer that was given didn't -- as I read it, it said "please refer to part B above", and I don't know whether that means you're answering yes to my question or no to my question.


DR. CHURCH:  No, the answer to the interrogatory should have made clear, Dr. Schwartz, I do not place substantial weight on functional interchangeability.  Functional interchangeability is mentioned once in my report --


MR. IATROU:  Can you pause for a second, because I think the recorder -- it's Nicky speaking.  The reporter is having difficulty hearing you.  So I think it's a question of, if you can try to speak a little closer to your receiver, or if you have a volume button on whatever phone you're on, if you can turn up the volume, that'd be helpful.


DR. CHURCH:  Well, I'm not on speakerphone.  I'm just on a handset.  I'll try and speak louder.


So as the answer, Dr. Schwartz, to that interrogatory should have made clear, I do not place substantial weight on functional interchangeability.

Functional interchangeability is mentioned once in my report, at paragraph 63.  It's mentioned in the context of product market definition, but most of paragraph 63 is a discussion of the importance for product market definition, of the willingness and ability of customers to substitute to other products.  And functional interchangeability is introduced as a potential starting point to identify avenues for substitution that should be considered in the analysis, so it's a starting point to assess the willingness and ability to substitute, a way to identify potential substitutes.


The goal of market definition clearly is to determine what set of reasonable economic substitutes, where that set is defined as those which are necessary to have control of the hypothetical monopolist.  That's the role of the hypothetical monopolist test, to identify that set of products that actually constrain the market power.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Then perhaps the question that we posed was not clear enough.  The question was --


DR. CHURCH:  What matters in this case --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  I'm sorry, I haven't finished.


DR. CHURCH:  I haven't finished my answer to your first question.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  I thought you had.  I'm sorry.


DR. CHRUCH:  What matters in this case -- what matters in this case is the willingness and ability of buyers of pole access for wireless attachment to substitute, and kind of a secondary indirect substitution of what is the willingness and ability of consumers of wireless services in downstream markets to substitute.


And my answer and interrogatory response to Energy Probe 4(b) was a summary of the evidence on actually the effectiveness of substitution of alternatives.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  All right.  Then I'm still not understanding your answer.  We asked whether Professor Church places substantial weight on functional interchangeability throughout your report, and it seems to me, as you've just said, the answer is yes, both in market definition and otherwise.


MR. IATROU:  I'm sorry, we just had the answer from the witness before --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  I'm sorry, we didn't have the answer.  We did not have the answer.


MR. IATROU:  I took it down twice.  He said:  I do not place substantial weight on functional interchangeability.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  I believe Professor Church may or may not have been referring to market definition, and perhaps he was referring to the use of functional interchangeability outside of the market definition question.  That was my understanding.


So that he may well have said he didn't place substantial weight on it in the context of market definition.  So I'm a little confused, but it doesn't matter, because if -- your answer is that you do not, so I'll leave it at that.


MR. IATROU:  Thanks, Jeff.  We'll move on to the next question, then.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  The question we had, there was a portion of your response that indicated -- I'm trying to think if it was to question (c)...


Yeah, I think part of your response to the interrogatory for (c) was that -- right.  On page 4 of 5 your answer, actually to (b), includes the statement:
"In addition, it is also reasonable to conclude that where pole access at regulated rates is important to the efficient deployment of modern wireless networks either now or in the future, that wireless service provider would have opposed the THESL application."


That seems to me to be more a legal rather than an economic issue.  Is it important from your point of view as an economist that those people are not in this hearing?


DR. CHURCH:  I've received -– hello?  Can I proceed?


MR. IATROU:  Go ahead, Jeff.


DR. CHURCH:  I think that as an economist, what my job is is to think about in this particular application what is the -- whether THESL has market power, and if it does, what are the consequences of exercise of market power.  As an economist I look for the evidence that would be consistent with there being extensive market power or the consequences of that market power being large.


And I do think it is notable -- as an economist -- that if the exercise of market power by THESL for pole access for wireless attachments was going to be significant or the consequences were going to be negative, substantially negative on the buyers of pole access for wireless attachments, I would have thought that they would be here, that they would be participating in this hearing.  As an economist, I think it is something that is relevant.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  I'm sorry, then I have to pursue that a little bit, but I don't want to, because this is the technical conference.


But is that a general view, that economists can draw a conclusion like that in this setting and perhaps others, that if a particular party is not present, then that indicates something about their interest or -- I mean, would an economist say that?


MR. IATROU:  Dr. Schwartz, I'm going to intervene at this point.  As you just noted, that isn't a question for the technical conference.


You have the answer from are the witness in terms of...


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Fair enough.  Thank you.


And I guess on schedule -- in response to (e) -- rather in response to Interrogatory 4(c), you may recall Energy Probe cited Professor Ware on functional equivalence and the question asks:

"Does Professor Church agree or disagree?"


And your answer, as far as I can tell, doesn't indicate either agreement or disagreement with Professor Ware on functional equivalence and its role in product market definition.  So I guess the question is:  Do you agree with him or not?


DR. CHURCH:  I apologize for my answer here.  I referred back to the answer to 4(b), or as discussed in my answer to Technical Question No. 1.


I thought it was obvious.  As discussed, the focus should be on the effectiveness of substitution, not the possibility of substitution.  I agree with Professor Ware on that general principle.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  I'm sorry.  Let's see...


Professor Ware has stated:

"I don't believe that functional equivalence is a particularly precise way of defining product markets."


Would you agree with that?  I mean, is that part of your answer or is it not part of your answer?


DR. CHURCH:  As I explained earlier in my response to 1(a), functional interchangeability is typically a starting point to identify potential substitutes, but what matters is the effectiveness of those substitutes.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  That's not the question, Dr. Church.


The question is whether you agree or disagree with Professor Ware.  I think you could go either way on that.  I'm just wondering what your view is.


DR. CHURCH:  He says functional equivalence is a particular -- he doesn't think functional equivalence is a particularly precise way of defining product markets.


In the context of what I've just said, is you can start with functional equivalence but you don't end there, which I think is agreeing with the general principle of the statement made by Professor Ware.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  In other words, you agree with him that functional equivalence is not a particularly precise way of defining product markets?


DR. CHURCH:  I don't think that is the only thing that you do when you define product markets.  I think it's -- as in paragraph 63, it's often a way where you start.


Emphasis on not on –- not only just be on similar qualities for similar end use; you have to look at, among those products, what is the willingness and ability of consumers to actually substitute.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Look, my friend, we can either do this now in a simple casual way or I can ask you under oath, and people will expect an answer one way or another.  So I'm going to ask you one more time.


For the purposes of the technical conference, do you agree or disagree with Professor Ware when he says:

"I don't believe that functional equivalence is a particularly precise way of defining product markets."


If you don't want to answer that, that's okay.  This is not a legal format, but I can ask you under oath.


MR. IATROU:  I have to interject again, because once again, I've taken down his answer at least twice.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Then you can give it to me.  What is his answer?  Does he agree with Professor Ware or not?


MR. IATROU:  His answer, as I've understood it, is that he does agree with Professor Ware.  He agrees that when you're looking at functional equivalence it's a starting point.  It's not the end point.  You have the agreement that he has given.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, okay.  But it's not responsive.  I didn't ask for his further views on functional equivalence.  I asked him whether he believes -- he agrees or not with Professor Ware.  That's the question.  And you haven't answered that either.


MR. IATROU:  He answered the question and provided the context.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, then I still don't know what his answer is, and I'll have to ask him under oath.  I mean, I was hoping to avoid that.


MR. IATROU:  I'm sure that Dr. Church will give the same answer under oath.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  Well, that's fine.  If it's acceptable to the panel, then it will be acceptable to me.


Okay.  Yes, Professor Ware, going on to the next question, tab B, schedule 5-5 --


MR. IATROU:  Professor Church.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  I'm sorry, Professor Church, excuse me.  5-5.  And here question A was, began applying his expertise in market definition, does Professor Church agree with Mr. Starkey's statement as previously provided that macro cell site-based network is a complete -- "a complete substitute for the DAS network that Public Mobile intended to build and if -- or be included in the relevant market".


Now, your answer, I see it, but that really -- I mean, the question is whether you apply your expertise in market definition, not specifically whether it's all that relevant.  But as an independent economist, I mean, is that something an independent economist would agree with or perhaps disagree with?  Maybe that's a better way to put it.


DR. CHURCH:  Agree or disagree with what?


DR. SCHWARTZ:  The statement that the macro cell site-based network is "a complete substitute for the DAS network"?


DR. CHURCH:  I gave you my answer, in terms of what I did in my report, and so I think it's important to understand that in my report I do not rely upon the Public Mobile experience in defining the relevant upstream product market.  And I'm pretty clear about this, and the reason why, and that's, you know, what was going on in that quote that you have from Mr. Starkey, is that, you know, we don't rely on Public Mobile's experience to define the relevant upstream market, and the reason is that Public Mobile's experience is likely no longer relevant.


So going forward, as I explain in my report, for instance, at paragraph 130, the issue is not whether universal coverage will be provided by using a pole-based DAS system, but the role of pole access with small cell or DAS attachments augmenting macro cell networks, coverage, and capacity.


So that was my approach.  That was my answer, was to say, you know, this might be a question that's of interest, but I don't think it was a particularly relevant question for this --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, okay.  I can understand why you might say that, but it was asked, and in this session it's an appropriate question to ask, and it's an appropriate question to ask an expert to respond to.  So whether you think it's relevant or not, you know, I mean, you know, that's not really the issue.


So I'm just asking you, as an economist, could an economist, you know, think about those things, and what would an economist say?


DR. CHURCH:  I just told you.  I said the relevance of this proceeding, the issue is, what are the substitutes for pole-based access for wireless attachments in the context of understanding that that is in -- wireless service providers are going to use pole attachment technologies to augment macro cells.


It's not an issue about whether -- this blanket statement by Mr. Starkey that there's a complete substitute for the DAS network.  I wouldn't ask that question.  And my report doesn't ask that question, does it rely on the Public Mobile experience.


And so, you know, I just think that's an irrelevant question, and I think that the right approach is to start with applying the hypothetical monopolist test to useful supply of pole access for wireless attachments.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  Then let me ask the same question somewhat differently, because throughout your report you use the word "substitution", and my understanding is that when an economist uses the word "substitution" it has a rather specific meaning, I mean, as you talk about the elasticity of substitution and think about the marginal rate of substitution and rate of technical substitution and so on.


So would you say, because you use the word "substitution", that -- and going back to the Public Mobile experience just as an example -- that they were using poles and then they stopped using poles and moved to macro cell sites.  Is that a substitution in your sense of the word?


DR. CHURCH:  I'm not sure, actually, that they were using poles.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  They were going to use poles.  They had permits in, and they were going to deploy the DAS network, and then they stopped and moved to macro cells and did not, you know, provide a conventional wireless service.  So is that a substitution in the sense that you've used the word?


DR. CHURCH:  Well, the way that I use the word "substitution" is the way that most economists use it, which is to say when the price of something goes up how much does demand go down by, and my -- the version of demand, other products, other -- in this case other inputs.


So it -- you know, clearly they have one plan for universal coverage, which was a widely distributed pole-based DAS system, and they instead were able to provide their service ultimately using a different technology, a different bundle of inputs.


So in some sense they did substitute, but whether -- you know, the reason I don't rely on that substitution as a possibility, and I don't make very much of it, unlike what other experts may have done in the past, is that I don't think that this issue about, you know, how you're going to provide universal coverage is the right issue, in terms of applying the hypothetical monopolist test correctly.  You should start with [inaudible] about market power on, which is poled access for wireless attachments, and you should ask, what are the substitutes for pole access for wireless attachments.  That's what I did.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  All right.  Well, I don't find that -- I think I understand that you've said that in your view it was a substitution.  The other thing you just mentioned in your answer was that economists use the term as a change in input in response to relative prices, which I would certainly agree with.


So in this instance, where Public Mobile did substitute, was that a response to a change in relative prices?


MR. IATROU:  Can I intervene for a second?  So we've got Dr. Church's answer, which is it was a substitution.  It is not a substitution he is relying on for the purposes of his report.  So since he is not relying on that within his report, I don't know that it's appropriate to start getting into hypotheticals as to why they substituted or in reaction to why, given that it's not something that he relies on.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Professor Church's response to us on the phone indicated that substitution, as I understand it, substitution is a response to a change in relative prices, so I'm asking him as an example whether this is -- you know, what the change -- was there a change in relative prices in this instance.


MR. IATROU:  Since he doesn't rely on, you know, this instance of substitution for the purposes of his report -- and Dr. Church, correct me if I'm wrong, but my understanding is that you don't for the purpose of product, for the purpose of market definition -- then asking him to speculate as to why something happened in the past in reference to something that he does not rely on in his report, I think goes beyond the scope of these questions --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  He did say that it was a substit -- an event of substitution in the economic sense, so I'm asking, what is the change in relative prices.


MR. IATROU:  In the same breath he said it is not one that he relies on.  He indicated that --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  That's not my question.  Whether he relies on it or not, I don't know.  He is an expert.  He is here to assist the panel.  That is the expert's first job.  Otherwise we could just put it on a tape recorder and we could repeat it over and over and over again for the panel.


I'm asking him as an economist to comment on the instance of what he believes is substitution.  If it was economic substitution, then, as he says, it should be in response to a change in relative prices, so --


MR. IATROU:  The question isn't going to be answered, because since he didn't rely on it for the purposes of his report, asking him to start analyzing something that happened in the past, that he does not rely on, and asking him to speculate on facts as to why Public Mobile did or did not choose to substitute goes beyond the scope of these questions.  It's outside the scope of his report.


And the purposes of today's hearing is to clarify points in his report or points in his interrogatory answer, and I think you have the answer to the question that you asked, which was:  "Is this a substitution?"  He says:  "It appears to be, but it's not one I rely on."


DR. SCHWARTZ:  I accept that.  And perhaps we can pursue this under oath, I suppose.  But the fact -- there are lots of things that go on in the world that form an economist's position, and they don't necessarily all appear in writing.  And if you're going to say that in a technical conference, we can't pursue these things, I'll just submit that you're mistaken.


All right.  Thank you, Professor Church.  You say that it is an instance of substitution, and you have not indicated that there was a change in relative prices.  So I take that to be your answer.


DR. CHURCH:  I'm sorry, I did not --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  I'm sorry what didn't you say?  I'm sorry, we can't hear you.


DR. CHURCH:  You put words into my mouth, Dr. Schwartz, at the last bit.  I didn't say that.


MR. IATROU:  He didn't accept the premise with respect to the change in price.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  That's right.


MR. IATROU:  I think is what -- because I've told him not to answer the question.  So I don't think you can proceed further on that.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  No, I'm not.  He has said that it is an instance of substitution, but he has not said anything on his view of relative prices.


MR. IATROU:  I think that's correct.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  That's fine.  Thank you.


So let's skip the last one, then, because it raises the same issues, and go to the more general question of the hypothetical monopolist test.  My guess is you and I would agree on a lot about it.


When one applies the hypothetical monopolist test, does one start with, as I understand it, a candidate market consisting of a product and then ask whether a monopolist over that product would impose a significant price increase?


And if the answer to that is yes, then the market is defined as relevant.  And if the answer to that is no, the product market must be broadened.


And the question posed again:  Is that your general understanding?


DR. CHURCH:  That is consistent with my general understanding, and I think it's consistent with what I said in my report how you apply the hypothetical monopolist test.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  No, that's fine.  Now, could we also do it a different way?  Could we start, instead of with the narrowest possible candidate market and ask whether it should be expanded, instead of doing that, we could perhaps posit the widest possible market and then ask whether it should be reduced?


Is that perhaps another way of approaching the question of market definition from the hypothetical monopolist point of view?


DR. CHURCH:  I don't understand that notion of the widest possible market.  I mean, the widest -- ultimately the widest possible market is everything substitutes for everything.


MR. IATROU:  Jeff, if we can ask you to speak up a little bit more, please.


DR. CHURCH:  I'll start again, because I'm not sure what was heard of that.


I'm not familiar with an approach that would start with the widest possible market.  And I think -- I don't think I've ever read anything that is along those lines or -- certainly I've never done that or seen anyone do that.


And I think the reason for that is because if you start with the widest possible market, that market should be very wide because it's -- there are lots of potential substitutes out there.


So I think the answer -- the reason we have market definition and the way we approach it from the smallest market principle is we're trying to make sure we're not over-inclusive or under-inclusive in terms of a set of reasonable economic substitutes.  So we define it in a way by saying:  Start with the smallest -- start with a candidate product, as we discussed, and then add substitutes until I get the smallest set of products in the smallest geographical region, that the hypothetical monopolist would find it profit-maximizing.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes.  Thank you.  And I appreciate the last point you made, which is one I was going to raise with you just to eliminate confusion.


When we think about -- because the hypothetical monopolist test is often stated as whether a hypothetical monopolist would find it profitable to impose a significant increase, but I have always understood that as:  Would a hypothetical monopolist, in order to maximize profits, impose a significant price increase?


So you and I would agree on that, that that's what the hypothetical monopolist test is?


DR. CHURCH:  Hypothetical monopolist test is:  Would the hypothetical monopolist find it profit-maximizing?


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes.  So in other words, if the profit maximizing -- let's say the significance criterion is 5 percent above the prevailing price, we would ask whether it would be profit-maximizing for a monopolist to impose a price increase of at least 5 percent?


DR. CHURCH:  Yes.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  Good.  Because I appreciate that there are other understandings of it.


Now, the prevailing price, if we start with the regulated price of $22.35 and thought about a 5 percent increase in that -- for pole access, starting with poles for the sake of argument -- the prevailing price is $22.35, and a 5 percent increase, by my arithmetic, is a $1.12, and that would take us to $23.47.


So would we infer from that that if the price had been $23.47, that a pole -- someone who is using poles would switch to something else because of that price increase?  Is that an application of the hypothetical monopolist test?


DR. CHURCH:  No, it's not, I don't think.  I would not agree with that, because I think when I'm doing the hypothetical monopolist test in the context of pole access here, I want to know if a hypothetical monopolist would, profit-maximizing, raise the price 5 or 10 percent, whatever your SSNIP is, above competitive levels.


So I need to make sure I'm using the right price base for the -- I don't think that the $22.35 is a competitive price.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  Fair enough.  That's worth knowing, and likely some further thought.


Do you accept it, though, as a measure of an approximation of marginal cost?


DR. CHURCH:  No.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  What, then, would you think marginal cost would be if a pole were not congested?  What would the access price be if the pole were not congested?


DR. CHURCH:  I can't answer that, because -- are we talking about like what the access price -- are we talking about a regulated access price, or are we talking about a market access price?


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, from an economist's point of view, wouldn't the price be zero?


DR. CHURCH:  No.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  For access to an uncongested facility?


DR. CHURCH:  The distinction here, which I think is very important, is that in markets, the price -- in competitive markets in particular, the price is set by the marginal cost of the least efficient supplier; it's not set by the marginal cost of the most efficient supplier.  So in order to know what the market price is, you need to know what the supply curve is.  And the supply curve tells you that where demand equals supply, accept the least efficient supply or the highest marginal cost unit that's supplied.


And so this related to the notion of -- that we know that all firms are not symmetric.  We know some firms have low costs and some firms have high costs.  And in a market, the access price would be set by the high-cost firm, the high-cost supplier, and low-cost suppliers, even though that price might be well above their marginal cost, they would make what are called Ricardian rents.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  So -- but your basic point then is that when applying the hypothetical monopolist test we should be applying not the prevailing price, as we do in merger review -- let me just -- let me make that a question then.  Do the merger guidelines' expression of a hypothetical monopolist test talk about the competitive price or the prevailing price as the starting point for market definition?  I had thought it was the prevailing price in the market, in the market.


DR. CHURCH:  In the discussion of -- so I think this is very important, right, is that if you're going to use the hypothetical monopolist test, which is expressed -- and, you know, I talk about this at paragraphs 59 and 60 in my report -- you know, it is the -- you know, I'm looking at it right here in paragraph 59.  What the MEGs actually say is "significant and non-transitory increase in price above levels that would likely exist in the absence of the merger."

So, you know, the hypothetical monopolist test, when it's being used in the context of a merger now, is a prospective exercise, asking essentially to define the market, see if things will get worse if we have the merger.


The very next paragraph in my report points out that, you know, if you're going to use the hypothetical monopolist test in conduct other than a merger, then you have to redefine the hypothetical monopolist test to be based on -- especially if you're looking at it in terms of defining market power, as we are in this case, it has to be, you know -- the base line that you use for the SSNIP should be the competitive price.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  No, I agree with that.  I think that's correct, and I think that's what the abuse of dominance guidelines do, which I guess leads to the final question, because your report does refer to the merger guidelines, at least as I recall.  You can correct me if I'm wrong, so -- and I think this is perhaps why I raise it now.


When you think about -- when you apply the hypothetical monopolist test in your report, are you replying -- are you, you know, are you using the version in the merger guidelines or in the abuse-of-dominance guidelines?


DR. CHURCH:  I'm using the version that I use in 59 and 60 [inaudible] level, because I actually think that your characterization of the abuse-of-dominance guidelines is not right.  I think that the more -- I think the traditional -- I don't know what version of abuse-of guidelines we're on now -- dominance guidelines we're on now, but the original ones use the competitive level, I think, but I think the more recent ones actually don't use the competitive level.  They use the price that would prevail absent the conduct that is alleged to be anti-competitive.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  And so the latter one is the approach you're using.


DR. CHURCH:  No, no, because there is no conduct here that's alleged to be anti-competitive.  What I'm using, as I say in paragraph 60, what I'm using is the competitive level.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  All right.  Fine.  So in other words -- in other words, this is the competitive price that we have to imagine, that we have to try to think about.  It's not -- it may or may not be the $22.35 that...


DR. CHURCH:  Well, I'm very doubtful that it's the $22.35.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  No, that's fine.  I want to be clear.  Thank you very much.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  I understand there are no further questions for Dr. Church.  Is that correct?


Okay.  Thank you very much, Dr. Church.  I think you're welcome to stay on the line if you like, but you're excused if you have better things to do.


DR. CHURCH:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  Bye-bye.


MR. MILLAR:  Bye-bye.


Okay.  I understand we're going to now move to Toronto Hydro's main technical panel.  They're not in the room right now, so should we take a ten-minute -- 15-minute break?  Okay.  Let's take our morning break and return at 10:40.  Thank you.  And for the people on the line, I recommend even if you step away, just stay on the line.

--- Recess at 10:26 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:44 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Welcome back, everyone.  For those not in the room, we've been joined now by Toronto Hydro's technical panel.  We have a number of questions for them.  I think we're going to start with Staff's questions, but before we do that, maybe the panel could be introduced?
TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LTD. - PANEL 2


Wendy Cheah


Michael Tat


Sheikh Nahyaan


Paul Sommerville

MR. WARREN:  There are four members of the panel.  I circulated the names and their titles and areas of responsibility in an e-mail.  For purposes of this session, I'll simply repeat their names.

At the extreme end is Wendy Cheah.

Next to her is Michael Tat.

Next to Michael is Sheikh Nahyaan.

And next to Sheikh is Paul Sommerville.

And in the e-mail, as I indicated, there is a description of their titles and, broadly speaking, their areas of responsibility.

As I understand it, Michael, what follows now are questions in the non-confidential category.  I and the witnesses will try to be as scrupulous as we can in observing that demarcation, but I would request that the questioners try and do so as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that caution.

The panel is available for questions now?

MR. WARREN:  Yes, they are.
Questions by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

So we'll start with questions by Staff and the questions prepared by Staff's experts.

Toronto Hydro will have seen -- though I don't think we circulated to the other parties, just because there were some confidential materials and we didn't have our list of who had signed the undertaking in front of us at the time -- we filed a series of seven questions with a number of sub-questions.  Two of those are confidential, or at least we thought they were confidential.  I'm sure Toronto Hydro will let us know if any of the other questions are confidential.  Those being, in the list that we sent out, Question 1 and Question 7, so we will not ask Question 1 and 7 at this time.  We'll save that for the end.

I think we'll be starting with our Question 2.  And we're going to have the expert that actually prepared the questions ask them, so unfortunately for you, there will be three different people asking the questions.  But our second question to be asked right now, I understand will be asked from our expert from Stewart Jack (ph).

Stewart, are you with us now?

MR. JACK:  Yes, I am.

MR. MILLAR:  Stewart, could I ask you to start with the question that we have listed as Question 2?

MR. JACK:  The question is:

"Please identify the average installation cost for different types of attachments..."

And for example, the wi-fi nodes, 4G cellular antennas, and others, and that might be smart devices such as smart parking meters.
"...and for different field conditions."

MR. TAT:  The installation of the equipment itself, the wireless equipment is carried out by the applicant.  THESL does not have any visibility to those costs.

MR. JACK:  Is that the same for THESI as well?

MR. TAT:  Yes, it is.

MR. JACK:  Are there no processing costs, engineering costs in terms of location of the full documentation, verification that the bracket is put on properly, and what about the shore power issue?

So there's no costs at all that are incurred by either THESL or THESI for these installations?

MR. TAT:  They are make-ready costs that are incurred by THESL, which is recovered through the applicant.

MR. JACK:  Do you have an order of magnitude for these make-ready costs?

MR. TAT:  The costs are varied depending on the work that's involved.  There are -- it really depends on the work that is proposed by the applicant within their application.

MR. JACK:  And is there a high degree of variation in those make-ready costs?

MR. TAT:  There would be a very high degree of variation.  There could be, yes.

MR. JACK:  Order of magnitude, 100, 200 percent?  I just wanted to get a feel for:  Are 98 percent of these make-ready costs standard and then a 2 percent in terms of -- certain applicants under certain conditions might be 200 percent, but 98 percent of the applications would be pretty much within 5 or 10 percent in terms of the costing?

MR. TAT:  The make-ready costs that we would estimate and provide to the applicant, it would be to accommodate the third party's equipment.  Various conditions in the field for such accommodation really -- I can't provide an answer on a range of costs for that.

MR. JACK:  In terms of the shore power, the applicant would bring their installation crew and they would tie into the shore power on the pole, or how does that actually work?

MR. TAT:  I'm sorry, you're saying what kind of power?

MR. JACK:  Shore power, the electrical, to actually power the device.

MR. TAT:  For any kind of connection, they are required to go through the standard process like any other customer to have electrical service.

MR. JACK:  Alternately, the installation crew from -- let's say it's from a cellular co. that's coming on to one of your poles.  They would bring their crew, including a qualified electrician, and they would use the electrical –- the shore power, in other words -- on the pole and power up the device with that, right?

MR. TAT:  We would perform just the connection, the final connection back to the grid.  The construction of everything else would be completed by the applicant.

MR. JACK:  Does that mean you're sending out -- after the applicant's crew comes in, the lessee crew, then you would send out your own crew to actually do the power-up?  Or is that done at the same time?

MR. TAT:  It's done after everything is inspected by the ESA.  We will come back after the fact and provide the final connection.

MR. JACK:  If you're not able to provide sort of -- I mean, you must have a total budget for this, for the ESA for your own electricians.  Are you able to provide that?  Say, this many connections over the course of the year, on average the make-ready costs were in the order of magnitude of X?  Is that not possible to get from you?

MR. TAT:  The ESA -- we don't have electricians, and also the ESA is a third party to this entire connection process.

And the applicants do arrange directly with the ESA to have the inspection of their construction, and after the ESA approves their construction, we will receive a connection authorization, which -- then we would go back and complete the final connection to the grid.

MR. JACK:  Right.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Does that conclude Question 2, Stewart?  I'm sorry, I didn't catch that.  Is that the end of Question 2?

MR. JACK:  It is.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

Moving on to our Question 3, I think Marc is going to take over.  Marc, are you there?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Yes, I am.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Over to you.

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Thank you.  My name is Marc Van Audenrode.  I'm an economist for -- expert for the Board Staff.  And I have a few questions that are actually all related to issue 12 in the Board's list of issues, which are all related to what are a possible way for the Board to refrain in part from regulating wireless attachment, rather than totally forbearing.

My first question was -- essentially it's Question 3 her in the list, and it relates to alternatives to a full rate access for pole attachment, and what these alternatives might be and what we have seen as being applied in other jurisdictions or what might be generally considered ways of safeguarding this market.

And these we'll list as non-price condition, meaning non-discriminary (sic) access, time lines for processing the attachment request, making it to resolve disputes in case of the negotiation for a sale.  And the questions -- I guess you've seen them -- are whether THESL will agree to any of these safeguards, or -- and if don't, why wouldn't they agree to these safeguards.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think I'll answer that question.  Thank you, Dr. Van Audenrode.  It's Paul Sommerville here.


I guess our response to this question really begins with an appreciation of the evidence in its totality in this case, including your very excellent report.  It seems to us that the -- there is not in any of the evidence in this case anything to suggest that there is likelihood of a compromise of the operation of this market in a fair and normal, commercial, competitive way, and that in the absence of evidence, to the effect that the market is or likely to be corrupted somehow, that probably the worst thing that you could do would be to interpose or introduce some glitches within the market.


And if I may suggest that the safeguards -- and I note the use of that word.  I may quibble with it a little bit, because I think that the best safeguard for a competitive market is a kind of -- letting the market operate in a kind of unfettered and unimpacted way, so the idea that -- and, I mean, this is something that clearly the Board has jurisdiction to address and to deal with in its own way and to see this issue as it will.  But the evidence doesn't support the introduction of any of the so-called safeguards into the situation.


So we would generally not be supportive of that approach, recognizing that that may be an approach that the Board has the authority to impose and to exercise.


So is that an answer to your question, Dr. Audenrode?


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Well, it is in part, but let me ask you then this follow-up question, which is, does your answer mean that THESL would consider if the Board were to forbear that THESL would consider exclusivity deals with some carriers as to their poles?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, a couple of observations there.  First, I think one of the thing -- the real safeguard, it seems to me, in this situation is that the Board's decision to forbear is never final and absolute.  It is always open to the Board on its own motion or upon the application of any person to reintroduce regulation of this activity.  The section, I think, contemplates that.


Secondly, there are remedies, if you will, of general application, I guess primarily through the Competition Act, that would apply if someone felt that the market was not operating in a fair way.


Let me say that there is absolutely no -- not only is there no evidence to this effect, but there is no reasonable scenario in which Toronto Hydro would seek to skew the market in some unnatural way or to corrupt the market.


Our interest is really -- and the interest of our ratepayers is really directly related to the free and open operation of a competitive market for this activity.


Now, does that mean that under no circumstances would we contemplate some form of exclusivity with respect to access to the poles for this activity?  And I think that, provided -- and I think this is included in one of the interrogatory responses.  We would say that if we wanted for geographic area to make available exclusive access on the poles to one participant in the market, that that would have to be done, and that would be done, and our undertaking would be that we would do it in such a fashion that it met reasonable commercial transparent processes.


So in the same way that you would auction 5 percent of the geography or 20 percent of the geography or 100 percent of the geography, you would do that according to a well-recognized commercial process, auction type process, bid type process, that would have all of the -- and again, to use your word, Dr. Audenrode, all of the safeguards that a market brings with it to that kind of exercise.


So I wouldn't rule out the idea that we would offer a kind of -- maybe in some instances some kind of exclusivity, but that that would follow a transparent, commercial, legal type process that would be -- that would pass muster in any court in the country and would be respectable and ethical and appropriate.


So does that answer your question, Dr. Van Audenrode?


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Yeah, I mean, your answer is clear.  But the beginning of your answer, you said something which worries me a bit.  I started this line of question and this line of reflection in my report essentially because, as an economist, I believe that, you know, there are costs that are associated with the regulation, that we must balance the cost of regulation with potential cost of non-regulation in this case, and what you are suggesting, which is that the Board could always come back and re-regulate, seems to me like a very expensive way of dealing with this problem.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, if I may say --


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry to interrupt, Dr. Van Audenrode, it's Robert Warren.  When you say "an expensive way to deal with this problem", what's the "this problem" you're referring to?  Can you refer to something in the evidence which identifies the "this problem" which you're asking about?


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Yeah, it is the issue that, you know, if there were possibility that -- and I'm not the one who is raising that hypothesis.  I think THESL itself raised up that possibility that, you know, there might -- things might happen in this market if the Board were to forbear that would bring the Board to re-regulate.


I find that a very expensive way -- very expensive way to deal with an issue where, you know, if we believe that there is a possibility, as THESL themself raise, that, you know, the Board might end up re-regulating, well, why not continue to regulate?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:   I think I understand your question, Dr. Audenrode, which is to the effect that --


MR. WARREN:  I apologize for intruding again, Dr. Audenrode, but I think it's important that we be very precise.  At the moment the Board does not regulate the terms and conditions of access to poles.  The governing orders regulate only the prices at which the regulation -- so we are not talking about abandoning a set of regulations that already exist.  They don't exist at the present time.


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  That's fair.  That's fair.  And I'm considering, and, I mean, this is one of the issues that the Board has asked us to consider, where -- whether there be other ways to achieve the same objectives than the one the Board is now trying to seek by regulating rates.


Now, I'm not the one who said that, you know, that is a safeguard to potential forbearance.  There is always the possibility of re-regulating, whatever that means, and whatever the -- in terms of whatever -- if it is the rates or other things.  I think you raised that possibility, but that's -- and that strikes me as a very expensive possibility.  Now, there is probably not much more than that.


MR. MILLAR:  I wonder if I can assist here.  And I think we may be getting a little off track, so let me...


What I heard Dr. Van Audenrode to initially ask was the possibility of imposing some non-price conditions with respect -- you know, if the Board were to forebear from rate regulation, it still might regulate in some other areas.  For example, he gave non-discriminatory access, et cetera.


I don't think there was inherent assumption in that question that those conditions already exist.  So he was asking about the possibility of imposing those as part of some Board order.


I think Mr. Sommerville's response was -- and he will correct me if I'm wrong -- that Toronto Hydro doesn't really support that.  And if I heard him correctly, it's because he thought that the market would probably sort that out.  However, if it turned out that the market wasn't doing its job in that respect, the Board could always look at that again in the future and then determine if perhaps it was appropriate to impose those conditions.


And then I heard Dr. Van Audenrode's follow-up question to be:  Well, that may be true, but is that really an efficient way to do this?  Is that a cost-effective way to do that?


And if I've misinterpreted what anybody said, then please let me know, but I think that's the question for Mr. Sommerville.  I think he understood that to be the question, and I would be interested in his answer on that.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sure.  Indeed, I think the idea that -- the question posed is:  Do we agree that safeguards are necessary?  And our answer to that is no, we don't.


We think that the evidence is pretty clear on this point, and from all of the experts, that there is a competitive market that is existent, and that in our view one of the ways that you can really upset that apple cart, if you like, is to start to impose some conditions that are unnatural in some respects, and that really aren't necessary in light of all the incentives that exist within the market.


One thing we know is that the current regulation of this activity is not efficient and is expensive.  We know that; we have evidence on that score.


So the idea that the imposition of these conditions, I think have to be -- has to be carefully examined in terms of their impact on how the market could operate.


But I do understand your question, Dr. Van Audenrode, and the idea that -- these remedies that I've suggested, but these are not -- certainly the procedure under section 29 for an applicant who felt the market was not operating efficiently is not a hideously onerous exercise.  The Legislature put it in place for a reason, and it's there to be exercised, it seems to me.


In our view, the right way to do that is to deregulate the activity, forebear from regulation.  We have no incentive.  There is no evidence to the effect that we would or should or could impose some kind of unnatural force within this market, and so in the absence of that, these conditions are probably not needed and probably are counterproductive.


And the one thing we do know is that the current regulation of this activity is not very efficient.


MR. MILLAR:  Does that answer your question, Dr. Van Audenrode?


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  It does.


And if I may ask another quick follow-up question on this that just struck me, which is, I mean, you seem to be saying that this would be non-productive, or at least could topple the apple cart, to use your expression.


Now, if I'm not mistaken, these are principles and guidelines that are used in many jurisdictions across North America.  Is there anything Toronto-specific that I should know of that would justify why this is widely accepted in many jurisdictions in North America and that would make it difficult for the market to function in Toronto?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I'm certainly not aware of any features or factors within the Toronto market that would have any such impact.  And I frankly would have expected the range of experts who have looked at this subject to have identified that, if in fact there were such realistic potentials.


As I said, I think the Board will have to find its own ground on this based on the evidence that exists, and I'm simply suggesting that the evidence in -- for the Toronto market does not indicate in any way, shape or form that there is any such threat or any incentive to produce such a threat within the Toronto franchise.  There simply isn't any evidence to that effect.


And I think that, frankly, interposing some of these -- some conditions needs to be very carefully thought through from a regulatory cost point of view, insofar as, first of all, I don't think the Board would want to become a piece-by-piece arbiter of commercial activity within the market.  I don't think the Board would want to exercise a kind of granular oversight over this activity, given the fact that the evidence is clear that there is a very competitive market.


The Board is also not sort of a telecom regulator; the Board is an energy regulator.  And I think that to the extent that the Board wanted to interpose itself somehow in some form of granular regulation of this subject matter, that that would not be a productive exercise for the Board and wouldn't be a productive exercise for the market and wouldn't be a productive exercise for the ratepayers.


Does that answer your question, Dr. Van Audenrode?


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Then moving to a question about price conditions that would exist and prevail in the case of forbearance or partial forbearance -- and I don't want to get into any confidential information here, but -- this is Question 4 in the list of questions, but there are two issues that I would be particularly interested in hearing your opinion on.


One is:  Do you agree with the principal of non-discriminatory access in terms of rates for potential carriers?


And the second is:  Is there a level or a level of price at which you could consider that the rates negotiated with one player could actually be an implicit denial of service to other players?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think two very different questions.


The first one as it relates to non-discriminatory access, we certainly do support wholeheartedly and unreservedly the concept of non-discriminatory access with respect to this activity.  I think that is sort of just a key component of a competitive marketplace.


That is not to say that -- people who want to participate in this market would have to meet the prevailing commercial conditions associated with the activity.  So non-discriminatory access means the willingness of the proponent or somebody who wants to participate in this activity, of recognizing, meeting and conforming to the prevailing commercial conditions, and not providing sort of special access to one proponent as opposed to another on anything other than a genuinely transparent, prevailing commercial condition kind of basis.


So with that caveat -- and I think that that caveat is really definitional of non-discriminatory access -- I think non-discriminatory access means making the activity available to anyone who is prepared to meet the transparently arrived-at, prevailing commercial condition, or conditions.  And that extends to price, it extends to the terms and conditions associated with the activity, and every aspect of the relationship.


So we strongly support non-discriminatory access to the activity.  We think that's the lifeblood of this activity.


Your second question related to whether a price agreed to by one proponent could have the effect of creating a skewed market, in effect, for others.  I think the answer to that is probably not.  I mean, I think that in the operation of a market there will be disparity in prices, and of course this is one of the reasons why we have such sensitivity about our costing information, is that in entering into these negotiations with proponents we want to have a full, fair, and open kind of negotiation, and that negotiation can result in pricing that covers a spectrum of prices and a spectrum of terms and conditions that may be associated with them that we, sitting here, can't really even identify at this stage.


There will be disparity in pricing.  Disparity in pricing, again, I'm going to suggest is definitional of a competitive market rather than an indication that there may be some unnatural thing happening within a market.


So our -- one of our key concerns in this case is to ensure that that pricing process actually proceeds in a commercially sensible, commercially transparent, but commercially effective way so that we can actually maximize prices for the benefit of the utility and for the benefit of our ratepayers.  That's our goal in this, is to get out, frankly, from under the current situation which we all know is not optimal and into a situation where there is an actual opportunity to share revenue as between the utility and its ratepayers.  Simple as that.


I also think -- I'm just looking at question 4, Dr. Van Audenrode -- that this dispute-resolution component again is something that would have to be approached, I'm suggesting, very, very carefully by the Board, that to get into a granular regulation of this activity is a fool's errand.


It could -- you know, we don't anticipate problems with our -- with the proponents of the customers in this area, but certainly I don't think the Board wants to regulate itself back into a more granular role than it currently exercises.  That seems to me to be quite unhealthy, and to regulate something that is -- that the evidence shows -- I mean, clearly, unequivocally, really can thrive within a competitive environment without regulation.


Does that answer your question, Dr. Van Audenrode?


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  It does.


So my next question was about this idea that we economists have that there are more than just costs associated with proceeding with one new regulator and that these costs, we as economists often describe them as being, you know, costs associated with lack of innovation, for lack of a better word, meaning if you're just compensated at cost then you have less incentive to invest, develop your market, try to create a more thriving market.


Is that just the view for an economist, a theoretical view for an economist, or do you have any evidence that -- or quantification that in the current rate regulations you have deficiencies for THESL and for the market for pole access?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Indeed.  A very important question, I think, in this proceeding.  We think that there are material inefficiencies to the Board's current regulation of this activity.  We know that there are.  We know that the Board's -- and this was obviously an unintended consequence of the Board's regulation, but we know that it is not an efficient -- it is not beneficial to ratepayers, it is not beneficial to the utility, is not beneficial to anyone other than the beneficiaries of an unnaturally low price for attachment.


So there is a flashing red light of inefficiency at the heart of this which relates to that relationship.  There is a cross-subsidy engaged in this case that is the unintended byproduct of the Board's regulation.


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  But if I can interrupt you here, isn't that a problem that can be solved by simply revising the rates?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, you -- I think again I would describe that as a bit of a fool's errand, insofar as you would have to impose a sliding scale of -- you mean impose simply a different rate for the activity.  But if you did that, what you would be doing is first of all rooting the activity in a cost recovery environment instead of a competitive environment where you can actually make more than the cost to engage in it.


So there is no good reason in our mind, given the evidence in this case, why this activity should be rooted in a cost recovery mode, as opposed to the competitive environment that is clearly present and can be effectively utilized to produce revenue to end the cross-subsidy, which we know about, we've quantified, and to transition that into actual revenue generation that serves the benefit of the utility and the ratepayers.


In our mind that's -- that's the key thing.  And if the only thing the Board decided to do -- the Board is, you know, is free to do what it will, but if the Board were simply to increase the rate to cover our cost, it's really just deferring the problem until our costs go up again.


And then of course we have to come back at some point.  Our ratepayers would be disadvantaged in the interim.  We come back when the costs change, and we'd be in a -- talk about regulatory costs.  That is a nightmare of regulatory cost.


And it flies in the face of the evidence.  The evidence is that there is revenue to be generated through this mechanism.  We don't know how much.  We don't know that it's going to pave the streets with gold.  Probably not.  But we do think that there is revenue here that can serve the interests of our ratepayers and the utility, and also that we can cease subsidizing this activity, subsidizing for -- without -- I'm not casting any aspersions here, but the companies that are being subsidized by this activity don't need this subsidy.  They don't need it.  They are doing just fine.  And this really doesn't even get on to their balance sheet, and won't get on to their balance sheet after forbearance.


So that's sort of my response to that, Dr. Van Audenrode, is that simply changing the pricing is a bit like, you know, the old saw of, you know, rearranging the chairs on the deck of the Titanic.  You're not really changing the fundamental problem here in doing that, and you're just creating a subsequent proceeding somewhere down the road for probably somebody else to take on, where they would come back and say:  Well, you know, our costs have increased.


The real answer here is this is a competitive market.  That's what the evidence says.


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  But isn't there a contradiction in your answer when you say that the market is competitive and seem to be implying that without regulation, THESL would be able to recoup much more than their cost?


If the market is competitive, you would get costs plus a reasonable margin, but you seem to be indicating that there is much more money to be made, which seems to be a bit, to me, inconsistent with the claim that the market is competitive.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What we really -- there are two elements to this.


One is the floor, and the floor is we don't want to be doing this at anything less than our cost.  We don't want to be making any of these attachments at anything less than our cost, and I don't think our ratepayers do either.  That's not good for anybody except that oligarchy of wireless operators who don't need the subsidy.


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  And I totally agree with that.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So I think the -- one of the things we want to do is we want to stop making these attachments if the price that's available for them doesn't meet our cost.  So a competitive market, in our minds, rules out a non-compensatory rate for this activity.  We think that a non-compensatory rate is a feature of this regulation, not a feature of a deregulated market.


In a deregulated market, you simply do not perform services for non-compensatory rates, especially when you're a regulated utility and you have a fiduciary duty to your ratepayer.


So we want to stop doing that.  And in order to do that, the Board has got to do something.


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  And I hear you and I understand you, but I still don't see any argument in what you're saying that couldn't be met through changing the rates, but I guess that's a debate that we can have later.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  How often do you want to change the rate?  Do you want to change it every year?  Do you want to change it on the application of this person, that person or the other person?


I'm not, Dr. Van Audenrode, I'm not trying to be argumentative or a smart-aleck, but I think that's a real question.


The right way to do this, with all respect, is to follow the evidence.  In fact, the evidence that -- I think your report was as eloquent as any on this point, that there is a competitive market available, and that recourse to that market is really the sensible regulatory step to take.  Forbearance is the right regulatory step.


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  I disagree with your reading of my report, but that's a...


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I guess that's for our respective counsel to get into that.


MR. MILLAR:  I think that's best dealt with not in the technical conference.


Did that complete Question 5 for you, Dr. Van Audenrode?


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  It does, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I wanted to make sure -- that was a very interesting discussion we just had.  I want to make sure nothing was lost in the shuffle here.


Mr. Sommerville talked a number of times about the inefficiencies related to the status quo.  I think one of the specific questions was:  Is it possible to actually quantify these inefficiencies?


And I may have misheard you, but I thought you may have actually said it has been quantified.  So what is that quantity?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think it's the difference between our cost in making the attachments and the price available to us.  I think that's a pretty raw -- it may not be a very sophisticated economic analytical approach, but it's a pretty good arithmetic, that if our cost is higher than the rate available, that seems to me to be definitional of an inefficiency in the market.


MR. MILLAR:  So that would be your quantification of the --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It would.  It would.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  There is -- I did neglect to respond to the part of the question that related to what effect does this have on the network of poles, and the answer to that is it really has no effect.


This does not require us to populate our system with anything.  This is an innocent byproduct of our distribution system.  It's a happy, innocent byproduct of our distribution system.


We don't need to -- and I think Mr. Tat spoke to this earlier, but this does not have an impact on our poles.


MR. MILLAR:  Dr. Van Audenrode, does that satisfy you for Question 5?  Would you like to move on to Question 6?


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  It does, but what you just said, Mr. Sommerville, actually largely answers Question 6.


My sixth question was precisely related to this issue of how costly it is to regulate rates as opposed to other things.  And I think in giving your answer to my previous question, we covered pretty much the answer to that question, unless you have anything to add, or, Michael, if you think...


MR. MILLAR:  I think the question has been -- the only thing I would add is obviously there are some regulatory costs associated with regulation of wireless attachments if that were to continue.  And we asked the question a bit more specifically in how much money, and I don't know if you have a figure or not.  If you do, we would appreciate to hear it, or even a ballpark figure.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  With the disparity between costs and...


MR. MILLAR:  No.  No, the question relates to obviously some costs -- if we are to continue regulating wireless, there will some regulatory costs imposed on Toronto Hydro, if for nothing else than -- I don't know if that would be part of existing rate hearings or how it would be dealt with, but there would be some costs put on Toronto Hydro to do that.


Our question was if you had taken any steps to quantify what those costs might be.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No, we haven't, actually.


MR. MILLAR:  And I won't force you to answer this question, but have you given any ballpark thought to that?  If the answer is no, that's fine.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The answer is no.  I don't believe we've looked at that specific element, no.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


Dr. Van Audenrode, did you have anything else relating to Question 6?


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  No, that's fine.


MR. MILLAR:  I believe that concludes your questions for this panel?


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  It does, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.


Staff does have two more questions but they are confidential in nature, so we will save those to the end.


And I believe, Mr. Rubenstein, you're next?
Questions by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I am.  Thank you very much.  I was wondering if we can pull up Board Staff Interrogatory No. 4.


MR. WARREN:  That translates to tab A, schedule 2-4; is that right?  Oh, sorry, Board Staff.  I apologize.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rubenstein, do I have to go searching for this one?  Is it for me?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't think so.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'll just -- I'll just speak to it and if it comes up, it comes up.  I don't think it's necessarily necessary.


You were asked about possible reciprocal arrangements between THESL and THESI and existing telecommunication service providers.  And the response says that you have such arrangements with Bell and Hydro One, and that under those agreements, Bell and Hydro One are licensed occupants on THESL poles and vice versa.


I was wondering if you can just explain to me that relationship and what a licensed occupant, what that entails.


MR. TAT:  The licensed occupant is vice versa and reciprocal.  So Bell would be a licensed occupant on Toronto Hydro poles, and Toronto Hydro, vice versa, would be an occupant on Bell poles.


I'm not sure I'm understanding the question.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So in that example, Bell pays the regulated rate to access your pole?


MR. TAT:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And vice versa?


MR. TAT:  Yes, and Bell has their own rate.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  In response to CCC 11 and 12.


MR. BARRASS:  Again, Mark, I think it would be helpful if you could provide the tab and schedule.


MS. GIRVAN:  It's J2.11.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Eleven and 12.  Essentially in both these interrogatories you were asked about Dr. Church and Jackson's costs and how those costs will be recovered, and in the response to both of those it states -- and this will be at the last line, essentially:

"THESL proposes to address the recovery of these in its 2015-2019 rate application."


How would the -- if these costs were recovered before 2015, how would those costs be recovered in that application?  Sorry, if they were incurred before 2015 how would those costs be incurred in the 2015-2019 application?


MS. GIRVAN:  Can I just -- can I add something?  If you go to number 13 as well, there's a different answer at the bottom.  And that's one of the things that I was intending to ask about.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So I guess the first question is how would these costs be recovered -- what would the basis for recovery be.  It seems to me that regulatory costs is a category of costs that the company normally provides in the course of a rebasing exercise.  And so these costs would be rolled into the regulatory costs and sort of normal regulatory costs that the company would have incurred over the bridge year, if you like.


So that, you know, regulatory costs I think are, generally speaking, in the nature of a forecast for an application -- a subsequent application, so these would form part of the cost structures that we would introduce as part of that rebasing exercise.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yeah, but my general understanding would be in a rebasing year you forecast those costs for that test year, and these costs would be incurred -- well, we're in 2014, so they're incurred in 2014, and I assume there were costs incurred in 2013.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Regulatory costs are -- is not -- is not -- and that kind of forecast I don't think is necessarily limited to the actual test-year incursion of those costs, but rather represent a kind of extrapolation of a normal kind of exercise of our regulatory activity.  And that our normal regulatory activity, we would regard this as a component of our normal regulatory activity.


I mean, the history of this case really begins with the CANDAS exercise.  In the course of that proceeding we did bring -- there was a motion included in our work that was intended to address this forbearance question.  The Board in its decision in CANDAS didn't address the forbearance question.  This is a kind of natural follow-up.


So we -- to answer your question, we think that the regulatory costs should generally reflect the normal regulatory activity that the company engages in and that this would form part of that exercise.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And there's no -- you're not aware of any deferral or variance account that could track these costs, or tracking --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- these costs.  Okay.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No.  And I -- Ms. Girvan, you mentioned your interrogatory that had to do with a cost benefit analysis, I think?


MS. GIRVAN:  No --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Or am I misstating --


MS. GIRVAN:  -- number 13, it just says the cost -- THESL is of the view that such analysis is properly considered at the conclusion of the hearing.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  Well, I mean, I guess what we're getting at is that the costs won't be known until the end of the case.  The full burden of the costs associated with this case would be included in the -- in that kind of extrapolation that I've just mentioned to your colleague.


MS. GIRVAN:  So, sorry, just to chime in, it's not clear if you're saying you're going to apply to recover the costs of this proceeding in your rebasing proceeding or you're going to have the Board consider at the end of this case?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think as part of our rebasing exercise we would be including these costs as part of our regulatory -- regulatory activity that fuels our regulatory-cost category of costs.


MS. GIRVAN:  Even those these are historical costs?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, yeah, but I guess what I'm getting at is that to some extent regulatory costs are not as limited to test-year incursion as others -- you sort of have a concept that there's a kind of normal regulatory activity that the company engages in --


MR. BARRASS:  Sorry, Paul...  [Off-mic]  We may have pressed it simultaneously.


I think the answer that Mr. Sommerville is giving is the same answer that you would have heard in the previous question, and ultimately we have not yet finalized the next rate application, so this will have to be determined in the context of that case.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We have your answer.


If I can get you to bring up SEC No. 6.  This is J, schedule 4-6.  Part (b) asks about how THESL proposes to track the revenues and costs, and at (b) you state:

"In the 2015-2019 rate case THESL is proposing to -- will request the establishment of a deferral and variance account to track those costs and revenues associated with wireless attachments."


So if the Board does forbear from rates, terms, and conditions as you're seeking and the decision is released on July 1st, what would happen to the revenue and costs for the remainder of 2014?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The remainder of costs for 2014?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Since there is no deferral and variance account tracking those costs until you're seeking to establish in the 2015 case?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I don't know the answer to that.  Let me get back to you.  Can we provide you with an answer to that?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  An undertaking?


MR. WARREN:  Just before we give the undertaking, we have in correspondence, I think, from my office indicated that we would create an account to track the revenues and costs immediately upon the Board's decision, and the undertaking -- answer to the undertaking would be a repetition of what's already been given.


I'm happy to give the undertaking, but I can tell you now that's what the answer will be.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, if that's the answer, is an undertaking necessary?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just to clarify then, you will be -- you are seeking -- operationally you're asking for the Board to have an account as soon as they forbear to cover for that revenue?


MR. WARREN:  I apologize, Mark.  I didn't hear your question.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No problem.  Then functionally you're asking for the Board if they, on the effective date of its forbearance decision, that there will be an establishment of a deferral and variance account to track those costs.


MR. WARREN:  We'll establish a tracking account that will track all the costs and revenues associated with this activity.  At least the client will.  I won't.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  But that is -- I just want to be clear, because the answer says you will do it in 2015 to 2019, and you're saying that, no, we will do that before that, based on the letters.


MR. WARREN:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  I just would like to ask, what's the difference between a tracking account and a deferral and variance account?


MR. BARRASS:  I don't believe there has been any proposal to establish a deferral and variance account in 2014, but to actively track revenues and costs incurred during the period of this case, so that's the difference conceptually between the tracking account that Robert just referred to and was referred to in his letter and the deferral and variance account referred to in the response.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you would agree with me that there is a legal difference?  The Board, if a deferral account is set up that's a -- the Board sets up an account and tracks, this is -- you will just do it.  I don't mean to --


MR. BARRASS:  There is a legal difference between internal tracking of costs and establishing a deferral and variance account.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

And your plan would be to track those costs, then, from, say, 2014 to the establishment of an account in 2015, and dispose of those accounts in the same way that you would plan to dispose of those -- that amount when the account is established?  Same rules would apply?


MR. BARRASS:  Sorry, Mark, I think a lot of those questions -- certainly as they go to any putative deferral and variance account -- would have to be answered in context of the next rate application, but certainly for now our undertaking is to clearly and carefully track the costs and revenues associated with these attachments in 2014.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand that.  My point would be the account that you're tracking, will you -- is your plan, is the proposal to dispose of that account in the same way that you would plan to dispose of whatever that account in 2015 to 2019 is?


MR. BARRASS:  I think that's a reasonable assumption.  Again, we will have to set that out in the context of the 2015 to 2019 case.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  But just understanding from our perspective, it -- we want to ask for establishment of an account.


MR. BARRASS:  I do understand what you're –- I do understand what you're raising.  I do understand the point you're raising.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.


If I can take you to SEC No. 9, this is schedule K4-9.


I just want to -- we had asked you to define the definitions of those terms, which you provided us with a -- definitions out of the -- dictionary definitions.


The question that I'm trying to ask is:  Is there anything -- you're seeking to forbear regulating the rates, terms and conditions of the attachments of wireless telecommunication devices to your poles.  Is there anything remaining that the Board would still regulate or could regulate with respect to the service or the product of the attachment of wireless telecommunication devices?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Terms, conditions and rates would appear to be comprehensive; certainly intended, in our view, to be comprehensive.  We're not suggesting that there is some other category of activity that is left outside of this.


And as I've indicated earlier, our position is that the Board should, in light of the evidence, forbear from terms, conditions and rates, regulating any of those.


So we do regard that as comprehensive and we do think the Board should forbear from regulation in each of those instances.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So for you, those terms would encompass all aspects that the Board that has the authority to regulate?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.


Those are my questions with respect to non-confidential material.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.


Julie, did you want to go next?


MS. GIRVAN:  Sure.  Thanks.


If you could turn first to Board Staff -- the very first question, tab A, schedule 1-1, and it says in the very first paragraph:

"Since the date of the Board's preliminary decision and order in EB-2011-0120, there have been 19 permit applications from two providers for wireless attachments on THESL and THESI poles.  To date, one permit has been issued."


So how many providers are currently on those poles?


MR. TAT:  Currently, there are two providers at this moment.


MS. GIRVAN:  Two providers?


And then if you turn to CCC No. 2, which is A2-2, and if you, sorry, also turn to CCC No. 5, which is A2-5, can you reconcile the numbers for me?


MR. WARREN:  We're going to provide a reconciliation.  At least Mr. Tat is going to provide a reconciliation in the confidential portion of the session.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MR. WARREN:  It was a question that was asked by Board Staff, to provide reconciliation of the various numbers, and Mr. Tat has done that and we'll be distributing the reconciliation when we get to the confidential section.


MS. GIRVAN:  It just doesn't add up to me, so that's why I didn't understand.


If you could please turn to Energy Probe D, tab 5 -- D5-7, so it's tab D, number 5, 7.


And at the very beginning, it provides some historical context to what THESL has been doing in the past.  And I would like to sort of get a sense of situation then versus the situation now.


So it says:

"On January 14th, 2010, THESL advised DAScom that THESL had issued a stop-work order on attachments."


Can you explain why that stop-work order was put from place?


MR. WARREN:  I'm going to instruct my panel not to answer that question.  That deals with historical event that are not relevant, in our view, to this application.


MS. GIRVAN:  I guess I'm just trying to understand what's changed, because if you look further down, it said that:

"On August 13th, 2010, THESL filed a letter with the Board advising that as a matter of policy the attachment of wireless equipment to THESL's power poles would not be permitted."


I just wondered why they're permitted now versus why they weren't permitted then.  What's changed?  What circumstances have changed?


MR. WARREN:  The Board's decision in the CANDAS case.


MS. GIRVAN:  So you're not prepared to answer the first question?


MR. WARREN:  No, we're not prepared to answer questions about the CANDAS proceeding.  Our position is that this is a standalone application, to be assessed on the basis of the evidence in this case.


MS. GIRVAN:  The witness seemed prepared to answer it, but -- okay.


If you turn to tab I1-32, which is Board Staff 32, and I think this is really a question for Paul.


It's still not clear to me how the Board can forbear from regulating part of a pole.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I don't think the Board is forbearing from regulating a part of a pole.  I think it's an activity.  It's a business activity.  It's a commercial activity.  It's not -- it happens to find itself on a pole, but it's -- as I said, it's a happy, innocent accident that the pole is there and that the pole can be used for these other purposes.


So it seems to me that there is nothing untoward about the Board simply forbearing to -- I mean, the Board has been exercising regulation of this activity, and it seems to me that it's -- by its own terms, it's not untoward for the Board to simply forbear, because there is a commercial -- or a competitive market associated with it.


The fact that the poles are part of the distribution system, it seems to me, is really the –- really kind of a terrific aspect of this.  It has a kind of innocent, happy byproduct of the fact of our distribution system that we have an opportunity to gain some additional revenue is -- within a competitive market in a commercially responsible and appropriate fashion, seems to me to be a terrific opportunity for the utility and for the ratepayers.


And the idea that somehow the Board can't forbear what it is currently doing with respect to this item -- and I mean, we know what it's doing; we know what the Board's regulation is doing right now.  It's producing a cross-subsidy for an oligarchy of wireless providers.


MS. GIRVAN:  So --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And not -- not progressing to a revenue stream that is potentially offset revenue requirement.


MS. GIRVAN:  So in part (c) of that answer it says the utility's rate base will be unaffected.  So you're not, in terms of this tracking of costs and revenues, you're not going to be allocating some portion of your rate base to the unregulated activities?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So we were looking at -- we're still under tab I, and if you turn to CCC 2-10.  It's CCC 2-10, tab I.  So at the last part of that question was to provide all cost benefit analysis undertaken regarding the move to market-based pricing, and I didn't really get an answer to that.  So did you undertake any cost benefit analysis?  If you did, could you file it?  Just not sure.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We have not conducted a cost-benefit analysis.


MS. GIRVAN:  So you didn't take a look at this -- the cost -- potential costs of this proceeding, per se, versus what your potential revenues might be?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We know what the costs of not proceeding are.


MS. GIRVAN:  Oh, I understand that.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  So did we think that it was important to bring this case?  The answer is yes.  Did we think that the costs -- do we think the costs are high in bringing this case?  It is an expensive exercise.  There is no question about it.  It's not something that we undertake lightly.  We have tried in every aspect of this case to minimize cost as much as we possibly could, but in the full analysis of the situation we simply look at the situation, and it's just not a sustainable situation.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thanks.


So if you turn to Exhibit K, schedule 219, so that's CCC number 19, at tab K2-19.  This question was regarding Industry Canada and Health Canada regulations, and it says in the answer that there is currently a request from Health Canada to the Royal Society of Canada to assemble an expert panel to conduct a review of safety code 6, which is currently underway.  I just wondered what the status of that is.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Frankly, don't know.  The conformity with Industry Canada standards is something that we would require of our proponents, but not something that we would monitor on a -- any kind of granular basis.  We would expect them to meet whatever requirements Industry Canada imposes.


MS. GIRVAN:  So that's in the contracts, or...


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MR. WARREN:  May I just supplement by saying I recollect, albeit dimly, that this issue -- this question of the status of this report was addressed at some point in one of the expert's responses, and if you want I'll -- we can give you an undertaking to try and find where that answer is.


MS. GIRVAN:  Sure.


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, I take it there's an undertaking?


MR. WARREN:  Yeah, the request that Julie made was the status of the Royal Society of Canada's examination of safety code 6.  What I said was I have a recollection that it's -- that there is information about this in one of the experts reports, and the undertaking, which I have volunteered without instructions from my client, is to see if I can find that piece of information, and if it exists I will provide it.  If it doesn't exist I will say that -- mea culpa, mea maxima culpa.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION RE:  THE STATUS OF THE ROYAL SOCIETY OF CANADA'S EXAMINATION OF SAFETY CODE 6


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So just one more question that's not confidential.  If you turn to tab L, CCC No. 20l so it's L, schedule 2-20.  And I guess this really didn't answer my question.  And I'm just looking at -- for example, we have some experience on the gas side with -- in the past with range rates, market-based rates, and I just wondered why that wouldn't be an option for Toronto to have rates that are still regulated but based on market rates.  Is that something that you looked at?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It was something we thought about.  We certainly embraced the concept of a floor.  We certainly embraced the concept that we do not want to impose on our ratepayers any longer engaging in an activity that is not compensatory, that falls below the cost of providing the service.


So we certainly accept the idea of a floor.  What we don't accept is the idea of a -- I don't know why you would want to impose a ceiling which is inherent in a range rate.  I don't know why you would want to impose -- I think one of the most fundamental interruptions or interferences with the operation of the market, to say, Well, the price can never go higher than this.  I think that that is -- that's an extremely -- that's why in answers to Dr. Van Audenrode I sort of suggested that the -- if, as the evidence suggests, there is a competitive market for these attachments, the worst thing in the world that you can do is try to impose some kind of restrictions or glitches or choke points for that market to operate.


There is no indication that there is any threat that those choke points are going to be necessary to avoid some kind of anti-competitive behaviour.  Our interest is to engage as fully as possible, and frankly, the interests of our ratepayers is to engage as fully as possible in that competitive market, and --


MS. GIRVAN:  So -- but legally this is something that could be done?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yeah.  Well, the Board has a broad range of tools available to it, and restricted, I would only suggest, by evidence.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thanks, those are my questions.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, if I can just ask a quick follow-up to that question.  I understand your response with respect to range rates, but with market rates there would be no ceiling, wouldn't there?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  That's an option.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Pardon me, I misunderstood.  Sorry, Julie.  I fastened on the concept of the range rate, but the market rate is the rate that we're pursuing.  That's the rate that we think is the right rate, and that rate may change from time to time and may change according to the terms and conditions associated with it.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you're seeking -- or how you're going about getting, essentially, a market rate is through a section 29 forbearance instead of seeking from the Board a section 78 market rate, which it could do?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, yeah, I suppose both things could happen.  To tell you the truth, I didn't give it an awful lot of thought, Mark, as to whether a section 78 application that simply provided for a market rate was somehow more efficient or more effective than a forbearance with respect to the activity itself.  It seems to me that section 29 was built -- was introduced by the legislature for this very situation, where you have a competitive market that is -- in which there appears to be, you know, fair buoyancy.  We don't have any evidence to the effect that it's, you know, sort of grinding along somehow, and it seems to me that that's what the legislature had in mind when it drafted section 29, was this very situation.  That's why we applied pursuant to it.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.


MR. MILLAR:  Those were all your questions, Ms. Girvan?


MS. GIRVAN:  That aren't confidential.


MR. MILLAR:  Understood.


Does Energy Probe have non-confidential questions for this panel?  No.


Mr. Janigan, you're on the phone.  Did you have any questions for this panel that are not confidential?
Questions by Mr. Janigan:

MR. JANIGAN:  I just want to follow up on the last point and ask Paul if he sees any inherent conflict between having a market rate and having that rate be a regulated rate.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  To tell you the truth, Mr. Janigan, I haven't given that an awful lot of thought.  I would like to get back to you on that.  I haven't really thought about the distinction between a rate that came out of a section -- your question is -- and I'll repeat it just so that I'm sure that I understand it -- your question is:  Is there fundamentally a difference between a rate that would be ordered by the Board to be a market rate pursuant to a section 78 application, and a forbearance application that would allow us to charge whatever the market rate happened to be at any given point in time?


Is that the burden of your question?


MR. JANIGAN:  That's essentially it, yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Can I undertake to give you an answer to it?


MR. JANIGAN:  Absolutely.  And it seems to me if it's the -- if first option is potentially possible, then I think we can all go home.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  Thanks, Michael.


First, we'll give that Undertaking JT1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  TO EXPLAIN IF THERE IS A DIFFERENCE BETWEEN A BOARD-ORDERED RATE PURSUANT TO A SECTION 78 APPLICATION, AND A FORBEARANCE APPLICATION THAT WOULD ALLOW WHATEVER THE MARKET RATE HAPPENED TO BE AT ANY GIVEN POINT IN TIME.


MR. MILLAR:  And, Michael, did you have any more questions?


MR. JANIGAN:  No, that's all.


MR. MILLAR:  I don't think there are any other parties on the line, but I stand to be mistaken.  Are there any more questions from people on the phone that don't relate to confidential matters?  Okay.


Not hearing anything --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mike?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Janigan, I'm going to provide you an answer to that last question.  And if I could ask at some point -- and I don't mean now, but at some point – if -- I would like to have the benefit of your thought about what you think the difference is.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I'll undertake to provide that as well.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks.


MR. MILLAR:  Let me give one example, Paul.  And I'm thinking, as we speak here, something that Staff could conceivably be interested in is -- a possible parallel would be the treatment of transactional services on the gas side, where the utilities can charge whatever rate the market will bear; however, the Board retains some control over those revenues and those revenues are split with ratepayers.


So I won't speak for Mr. Janigan, but maybe that's the type of thing that could come up in this proceeding.  And if you have thoughts on that, I think that would be appreciated.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We think there are strong parallels there.  We've indicated in our interrogatory answers -- and frankly, on the record, off the record, in the groove, out of the groove -- of our intention, undertaking, dedication to the idea that whatever revenues -- and here's hoping for all of us that there are some -- revenues that comes from this process would be subject to a sharing between the utility and ratepayers.  And a sharing that would be -- how should I say – endorsed, ordered by the Board as part of a rate case.


So we've been consistent in this subject from the very beginning, that that's our undertaking.  So just for clarity on that.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  And anything else you can provide in the undertaking response is appreciated as well.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We also think that there may be some other options with respect to use of the revenues for the benefit of our ratepayers, that are worthy of some consideration too.  So it's a -- it's a discussion that is -- we're available to.


MR. MILLAR:  I'll let you do the undertaking however you like and then we'll pursue it in the hearing as necessary.


I understand that's all the non-confidential questions.  We'll move now to our in camera portion.  Why don't we take a 10-minute break?  That will let us put up the sign and whatnot.  I'm hopeful we can wrap up before lunch.  I actually don't know how much time we'll spend here, but I would like to get started before lunch anyway and if we can finish, all the better.


Just to notify parties, I have now been told by Energy Probe that they have a couple questions for Dr. Van Audenrode.  I don't think it's too much, but we'll move to that after the in camera portion.  So we'll go back on the public record after we hear from Toronto Hydro a little bit more.  If we can wrap up by lunch, all the better, but we'll see how we go.


So why don't we take a quick 10-minute break now, so people can refresh themselves, and then we'll come back?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mike, we're under no restrictions with respect to discussions with counsel?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  What I'll remind people is anyone who has not signed the undertaking or does not work for Toronto Hydro or Board Staff is not permitted to come back for the in camera portion.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough, but I can talk to our counsel on this subject in the interim?


MR. MILLAR:  I don't believe there is any restriction on that for a technical conference.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. WARREN:  He is not under cross-examination, so there is no restriction.


MR. MILLAR:  I've not faced that question.
Okay.  Ten minutes, everyone.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 12:09 p.m.
--- On resuming in camera at 12:27 p.m.

[Page 74 line 27 to page 89 line 16 have been 

redacted]
[Page 74 line 27 to page 89 line 16 have been 

redacted]
--- On resuming public session at 12:52 p.m.


MR. MILLAR:  We do have a couple of questions left for Dr. Van Audenrode from Energy Probe.  I've just gone to fetch them.  I understand that the questions aren't terribly extensive, so my great preference would be to finish before lunch and just plough ahead if that's okay with the court reporter.


So Mr. MacIntosh and Dr. Schwartz will join us in a moment.


Dr. Van Audenrode, are you on the phone?


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  I am.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So we'll probably take about 30 seconds here before everyone gets settled.


Mr. Warren, did you have something to add?


MR. WARREN:  I just wanted to know if the Toronto Hydro panel can be excused, unless they want to sit there and...


MR. MILLAR:  Absolutely.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  The panel is excused with --


MR. WARREN:  I didn't mean to throw them out of the room.

[Laughter]


--- Off-the-record discussion.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I have turned the on-air sign back on, so we are now in public session.  Dr. Schwartz and Mr. MacIntosh have returned, and Dr. Schwartz, I understand you had a couple of questions for Dr. Van Audenrode, who is on the phone.
ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD STAFF - PANEL 1


Mark Van Audenrode

Questions by Dr. Schwartz:

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Good morning, Dr. Van Audenrode.  I hope I have pronounced your name properly.


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Perfectly.  Good morning.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  I had a couple of questions.  I'll indicate -- to your interrogatory responses.  I'll just indicate what they are first.  Energy Probe on issue 4, number one, and the responses to the sections B, D, and H were the ones I wanted to pursue.  But I thought it might help to pursue them in a somewhat different way and ask questions generally about what the hypothetical monopolist approach to market definition is.


And I don't know if Dr. Church is on the line or not, but he might -- no?  Okay.  Well, let me ask you just to maybe play along with me a bit and consider an illustration, an example, which is unrelated to the current issue about poles, stuff like that.


Let's say we're talking about apples, and apples in Ontario.  So leave Ontario for now.  And there is a merger in the apple market, not a monopoly merger, but just some merger that might or might not give rise to market power.  So we might want to begin, following merger guidelines and the hypothetical monopolist approach in Canada and the United States, by defining the market that would be relevant for the market power enquiry.


And I'm sure you'd agree with that much -- we would both agree with that much.  So let's assume that the apple market prior to this merger was competitive -- competitive pre-merger.


Now, as I understand your report and my own understanding of the hypothetical monopolist test, we would begin to delineate the market by first asking about apples, and we would ask whether a hypothetical monopolist of apples, not the merger conditions we're thinking of, but just the hypothetical monopolist, whether that monopolist would be able to impose or would impose, rather, a significant and non-transitory price increase as the first step.


Does that make -- does that sound like it's familiar to you?


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Yes.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  I thought it would.


Now, let's think about what a monopolist would do.  If the merger price were competitive beforehand, nobody was making any extra profits, they were just normal profits.  The monopolist, on the other hand, presumably would begin to raise the price, perhaps in steps, and on the first price increase that the monopolist would impose, it might find, would you agree, it might find that it lost some customers, and the sales to those customers would be foregone by the price increase?

On the other hand, the higher price to the customers who did not leave would also be considered, so it's quite possible that even though he loses, the monopolist, our hypothetical monopolist loses some customers with the first price increase, he might actually have greater total revenue?

Is that the way we think about it in conventional, you know, textbook microeconomics?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Under the maintained assumption that the apple market in Ontario is actually a market, and we looked at whether the monopolist would see profits, not revenue.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  No, no, but I'll get to costs in a moment.

So it's possible –- I mean, I think this is the conventional understanding -- and you can tell me if I'm wrong -- that it might be in the monopolist's interest to raise the price even though it lost some customers, but the higher price on the remaining customers might make that price increase profitable.

And we might assume -- why don't we just assume constant average costs, just to make the hypothetical easy?  So that with the revenue going up and constant costs, profits would go up on this first price increase.

At the first step, when the monopolist hypothetically goes through this effort, would we agree that it is possible that even a small price increase might be profitable even if he loses some customers?  And isn't that part of the way we think about the test?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Yes.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  So let's say he does it again and imposes another increase because the first one was profitable.  He might do it again, and then he would lose, presumably, some more customers and the sales, but the increased price on the customers who remain might well compensate for it.  So that it might be profitable for this hypothetical monopolist to increase the price a second time.

And we might think about this until the monopolist reaches its optimal, its profit-maximizing price, in which case further price increases thereafter result in the loss of so many customers that revenues begin to decline and that maybe it's no longer profitable to increase price.

I think this is all kind of textbook stuff.  That's my understanding.  Is that in some way how you approach it, this test, this hypothetical monopolist test?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  I'm not sure I agree with your sequential characterization of the process.  The question is what price would a hypothetical monopolist impose on that market, and --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  So you're talking about one step; I'm just talking hypothetically in small steps.  Fair enough.

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Well, but --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  No, it's okay.  I don't disagree with you.  I'm just -- that's how I think about it myself.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's let the witness finish the answer.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Sorry.

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  As I said, I'm not sure where these steps come from, but that's...

DR. SCHWARTZ:  That's fine.

So let's say our hypothetical monopolist begins to increase the price and then stops increasing the price after 4 percent, the 4 percent price increase.

If we had selected 5 percent as the significance criterion, would it then be -- would it then follow that since this hypothetical monopolist would not -- would impose a 4 percent but not a 5 percent price increase, that the apple market, defined initially as apples, would not be subject to a hypothetical monopolist's significant price increase and would have to be broadened?

That's my understanding of how this process works, conceptually.  Is that something you agree with?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  The definition is the smallest market for which you can apply a significant price increase, and a hypothetical monopolist would apply a potential price increase.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  I agree with you.  And thank you.

Let me just say that it's my impression that economists have found the hypothetical monopolist test very difficult to understand even though it relies basically on intermediary price theory, and the reason for that is the failure to communicate properly among economists, and the enforcement agencies in the United States seem to have made it more difficult than it really is.  But let me proceed.

So you're right, we need to find the smallest market over which the significant 5 percent price increase would occur.  It wouldn't occur just with apples, because by hypothesis, he would stop increasing their apple price after 4 percent.  So then we would have to pick another product.  So now we have two, the apples and -- let's say oranges.  I'm not sure how this would go, but let's say apples and oranges.  And then hypothesize a hypothetical monopoly over both apples and oranges.

And then would we not ask conceptually the same question again, as to whether the hypothetical monopolist of apples and oranges would impose a significant price increase?

And the answer might be yes or it might be no, but let's say it is, that once the monopolist has both all apple production in Ontario and all orange production, or orange sales -- I don't think we produce oranges in Ontario -- but all oranges that come to Ontario, maybe that would be enough to sustain a significant price increase, because the people leaving the apple market might go to oranges.

So is it your understanding, as it is mine, that on those hypothesized facts we might have a relevant market?  The smallest market would be composed of both apples and oranges?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Under your hypothesis, yes.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  I think what I'm offering is a very standard and hopefully non-technical understanding as to what the hypothetical monopolist test is about.

Now, it's possible that as this -- just to further the discussion, that the monopolist might find that having a monopoly on both apples and oranges, he might lose sales by further increasing the price of both.  So maybe because -- well, all right.  Because demand for the market of both is very elastic, so presumably we could add to apples and oranges, we could add pears.  And literally, we build up a market until –- in my understanding, and perhaps yours as well -- that the market would be large enough so that a monopolist over all the entities in it would find it profitable to increase the price overall, the entire set of products in that market, and that would be how we reach, conceptually, the smallest such market?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  I mean, I put it differently, which is we try to find the smallest set of products for which a hypothetical monopolist could potentially find profitable to significantly raise the price.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Then I think we completely agree with each other.

Now, suppose some of the apple buyers were retail people like me who go up and buy apples, and others were industrial apple buyers who bought them and then resold them to someone else.

Do you think that -- is it possible that those two groups of buyers, if we simply start out with apples, might respond differently to a price increase?  Is there any reason to think that they would have to respond the same way?

Conceptually, I mean.  I would think the answer to that would be no, but...

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  I mean, in your example, the answer is I don't know.  I mean, we know demand functions and demand curves that are iso-elastic, meaning that at every point on your demand curve, everybody has the same elasticity of demand.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  So it's possible, then, that maybe the retail customers might begin to leave in response to a price increase?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  The answer -- can I finish the answer?

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, did you -- let Dr. Van Audenrode finish his answer, please.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  I'm sorry.

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  So my point is there are all kinds of shapes in demand curves in the market, and some of them apply that everybody's created along the demand curve as the same elasticity of demand than other [inaudible] and without any further analysis of the demand curve it's impossible to answer you.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  Well, it might be supposed, might it not, just again for the sake of argument, that industrial apple buyers might have more inelastic demand than retail customers, and so the price in the aggregate demand curve would reflect both sets of buyers?  So conceptually, then, would you agree with me that it is possible that some apple buyers might leave the -- might leave apples for oranges and others might not for a given percentage price increase by a monopolist?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Again, I think that I implicitly answered that question.  What you know is that if you raise the price there will be less oranges or less apples being sold.  Whether there's decrease in sales of apples is because everybody reduces consumption of apples to -- for oranges or because some customers completely quit the market is an empirical question --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  I'm not talking about empirical.  I'm talking conceptual.

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  But, you know, you are trying to get me to answer totally in complete hypotheticals, and it's very difficult.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, it is a hypothetical monopolist test, and that's what I'm trying to figure out if you and I and Dr. Church agree on what it is, because sometimes I read all of our --


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Well, but you apply it to a market for which you -- you don't give me the entire information about that market.  And I'm not trying to be difficult here.  I'm just trying to be very precise in my answers.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, that's fine.  I'm just thinking about the way the hypothetical monopolist test is presented in the merger guidelines of the enforcement agencies, and this is, I think, what they're talking about.  It's conceptually a very simple --


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  I don't think that the guideline says anything about apple buyers in Ontario and, you know, industrial buyers versus individual consumers.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  No, but they do talk about price discrimination, is my impression, and that was where I was kind of going.

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Let's go there.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Fine.  And I appreciate, you know, it's somewhat difficult to convey a conceptual matter like this in this kind of setting, so I would appreciate it if you would give me some slack, because --


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  As long as you allow me to answer completely and precisely --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Of course.  Well, I'm not being adversarial here.  I'm trying to figure out whether there is enough agreement on what the hypothetical monopolist test consists.

Now, let's go to the question of demand elasticity and let's say that the apple demand -- that we start with apples, and apple demand is highly price-sensitive to any and all buyers, just to make it easy.  So in that circumstance it is possible -- we might conjecture that a hypothetical monopolist, even though it was a monopolist, might not impose a significant price increase, if demand was elastic, perhaps even highly elastic, that all buyers were so price-sensitive that even a 4 percent or a 2 percent price increase might cause them to shift to other things, so that this is kind of part of the test, when we decide -- is it not, when we decide whether to expand the market beyond apples alone, we might first ask how price-sensitive is the demand for apples, and if it were very price-sensitive -- and I think the period is, like, two years -- if enough people would leave within two years, then -- sorry, the test is a significant price and non-transitory price increase, where they often use, for non-transitory, two years.  But let's say that people would leave, perhaps very quickly, the apple market because they're price-sensitive.

So aren't we implicitly saying that the demand elasticity for apples is an important determination of whether the market is limited to apples or not, again, in my kind of simple hypothetical?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  I believe that at the heart of the test is a comparison of the elasticity of demands for the product included in the market and cost of productions, yeah.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Are you familiar with the concept of the critical demand elasticity?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Yes.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  So let's say -- and here I'm jumping ahead a bit, but let's say the critical demand elasticity were 10, and that the demand for apples were, say, 20, and so the demand for apples is more elastic than the critical demand.

As I see these things, that would lead to the conclusion that the market had to be expanded beyond apples, but if the demand for apples were only 5 and fell below the critical demand elasticity, that would be -- that would tend to suggest that the market is only apples.

Would that be something you agree with hypothetically, in my simple...

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Yes, the issue, I mean, yeah, I'm...

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  Fine.  No.  Thank you.

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  But let me answer, please.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  I'm sorry.

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  And I don't want to, you know, do this exercise in which you throw numbers without having time to think about it.  But, you know, the issue is if the elasticity of demand for the product considered in the market -- considered is high, then it is very unlikely that it will be considered in the market.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  Okay.  So that's -- so we agree on all of that.  And we've introduced the idea of the critical demand elasticity.

Are you able to define the critical demand elasticity if the significance test is 5 -- 5 percent?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  I don't want to do that exercise here.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  Well, it's a formula, and it's sometimes not -- I believe the answer was 10; that is, if the demand elasticity for something were 10 or more, then a hypothetical monopolist would not impose a 5 percent price increase, but that if the demand were less than a critical demand elasticity of 10, then the monopolist would impose a price increase of 5 or more percent, and there is this formula that comes up in the literature that I'm referring to.

Is that kind of consistent with your understanding?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  I know there is a critical elasticity, and I don't want to vouch for your numbers --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  -- without allowing me the time to think about it and do it correctly.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  No, I appreciate that.  That's fine.  I think the important thing that we've agreed on now is that there is this concept of the critical demand elasticity associated with a significance test on the price.

Just excuse me for a moment.

In your response to the question H, again, this is a, I think just a conceptual issue and one of terminology.  The question was, would Dr. Van Audenrode agree that the "broad market" to which Dr. Church refers is a product market, and you say it is not a relevant anti-trust product market.  And I'll leave that for discussion between you and Dr. Church.

But as a matter of terminology, don't we adopt provisionally a product market and then expand it and expand it and expand it until finally we hit the relevant -- what you call the relevant anti-trust product market?  So that Dr. Church's broad market might well -- would certainly be a product market as a matter of definition, but whether it's the relevant one is a separate question.

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  I'm not sure I understand your question.  Are you asking me about the relevant term in that sentence?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  I'm trying to distinguish between a product market and a relevant product market.  Let me expand.  In the apples case, apples would clearly be a product market, but it might not be relevant until we do the test, and then we might find that apples plus oranges would be a product market and could well then be relevant, depending on our -- the way we calculate it.  And if not, we'd have to increase it to get a third product market, and eventually we'll find the relevant product market.

Is that, in terms of terminology, that's something you would agree with?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  The idea is whether this is -- I mean, you can consider the Canadian economy a market.  Is it relevant for the issue at hand here?  No.

And that's my point and that's the meaning of my answer.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  Well, mine was just a question about terminology.  My understanding was that we consider various product markets in some sort of sequence until we find out which one is the relevant product market.  So that's what I was simply asking you about in question (h).

It seems to me Professor Church's broad product market has to be a market, in market definition terms, but whether it's the relevant one is the issue.

All right.  Let's not --


DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  I don't know what is not clear in my answer here.  I'm just saying this is not the relevant market.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  But that wasn't the question.  The question was whether it is a product market.

Isn't the issue in market definition the elaboration of an initial product market in some sequential way until we get to the relevant market?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  I'm not sure I see where you're going.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  I'm not going anywhere.  Really, I'm -- just a question of terminology.

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  It's not the relevant market and -- not the relevant anti-trust market, and I can offer several sections of my original report that support my opinion, but this is not -- this is not the relevant market.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  It wasn't so much a question on your conclusions, which -- let's go to something else.

One of the questions that comes up in applying the hypothetical monopolist test is the starting price, and in my hypothetical with apples, the apple market was competitive.

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Yes.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  The question that comes up is supposing the apple price were above marginal costs for any reason whatsoever.  You know, let's not worry about the reason for the moment.

As I understand the test, this pre-merger margin over the competitive price might make it easier for a monopolist to impose a significant price increase than otherwise.

Is that your understanding?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  I don't understand your question.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, let's put it this way.  Fair enough, and I think the discussion you and I are now having shows that even experts find this is something of a difficult matter to understand.  It's discussions I've had before.

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  I would disagree with your characterization, but let's go ahead.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  Let's say the competitive price of apples is $5 a pound, and the monopoly price was, say, $10 a pound.

Now, if the price in the market were actually $7 -- it was elevated over the competitive price --- it seems logical to say that a monopolist would have a shorter, a smaller increase to impose from 7 to 10 than from 5 to 10.So you take it to the monopoly optimum.

So that would seem to suggest -– well, what does that suggest to you, if anything?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  If your point is that the difference between 7 and 10 is smaller than the difference than between 5 and 10, I can only agree with you.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  Well, fine.

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  So if you have a more precise question, just ask it.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, I thought that was fairly precise.  Because I know that Professor Church discusses the role of margins in his report.

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  He certainly does, and margin is part of the measure of the critical elasticity.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Exactly.  So let's put it this way.

If the margin is a positive number rather than zero, would that, in your understanding, tend to increase the critical demand elasticity, or reduce it?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  It reduces it.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  Yes, I agree with you, and I think another way of saying that is that if it only takes 3 percent to get to the monopoly optimum, because the price is already elevated, then the hypothetical monopolist gets to the monopoly optimum without imposing a significant price increase of 5 percent.

Is that, in your view, just another way of saying what we've already discussed?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  The gap between 7 and 10 is much more than 5 percent anyway, so just -- makes a good example.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  All right.  Well, I think we agree on that.

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  I would ask you to refrain from claiming where we agree or not.  I'll...

DR. SCHWARTZ:  I would hope we would agree on that.  How about that?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  Okay.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  Let me ask you this.  And now maybe we'll just talk, and my only question about your understanding of the facts of the case.

Supposing there were wireless attachers to Toronto poles and Toronto Hydro put up a 5 percent price increase, given your knowledge of the market and the availability of other attachment means or technology options, would you say that those attachers would bear the 5 percent price increase, or that they would switch?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  I'm not sure.  I'm not sure I understand your question.  Are you asking me whether I believe that the relevant market here are the THESL poles?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  No, I'm not asking that.

I'm asking what is your understanding of the market; that is, if there were attachers and the pole owner, the monopoly pole owner -- which is Toronto Hydro, I take it -- imposed a significant price increase of 5 percent, would they pay it, or would they leave for other alternatives?

MR. MILLAR:  I do caution be very careful that no confidential information comes out in this response or this question.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  I'm not using confidential information.

MR. MILLAR:  I know, but the answer.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Again, it's kind of hypothetical.  My sense is, from what I've heard, that there is a question, that maybe they wouldn't leave on a 5 percent price increase.  And that would tend to support the idea that the market is only poles.

I mean, isn't that the kind of argument that we might make?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  I think we're mixing a different concept here.  As you ask me that question, your question is equivalent to asking me if I believe that demand has a negative slope.  And the answer is yes, demand has a negative slope, meaning if you raise the price, less people buy.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  And that's more relevant to the apples, but in the case of existing attachments by wireless companies to Toronto Hydro poles, it seems to me that what your report is saying is that they would not leave on a 5 percent price increase in the attachment rate, that in effect their demand is inelastic at the prevailing price.

And so the market, defined by the hypothetical monopolist in your report, would be limited to poles.  Is that not essentially how you're using the hypothetical monopolist test?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  My conclusion is that the market is the market for THESL poles, yes.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  And that would be the reason, because hypothetically, if there were wireless attachers at the current rate of $22.35, a 5 percent increase would not force them on purely financial or economic grounds to shift to something else?

DR. VAN AUDENRODE:  The hypothetical monopolist test or the test that would be relevant here doesn't look just at current attachers, because there is this whole issue of sustainability.

So my conclusion is that the market -- or the poles network that THESL has, which means that my conclusion is that it would be possible for THESL to raise its price by 5 percent in a sustainable way and find that more profitable than the current conditions.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  All right.  Thank you very much.


MR. MILLAR:  Those are your questions, Dr. Schwartz?


DR. SCHWARTZ:  No, that's it.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.
I understand there is nothing else for Dr. Van Audenrode?  Okay.  I think that concludes the technical conference.  Thank you very much, everyone.
--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 1:28 p.m.
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